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“Take heed that you do not go up into the mountain or touch the border of it; whoever touches the mountain shall be surely put to death.”

THE BOOK OF EXODUS, 19:12

“The thing about the ends of the earth is that someone somewhere—usually in Langley, Virginia—will imagine that they have strategic value.”

Christopher Dickey, EXPATS


Prologue: The Descent

The Desert Southeast of Tabuk, Saudi Arabia: 1988

JUST before daybreak, Bob Cornuke decided they should leave the cave. The way he explained it to Larry Williams, if they headed down the mountain while it was still dark, at least they would have a couple of things working for them. First, they had a pair of night-vision binoculars to illuminate the narrow trail. And second, as best he could tell, things were still quiet in the concrete guardhouse at the base of the mountain; with a little luck the soldiers would not stir until after morning prayers. Cornuke tried to lay it all out in the same calm, reasonable voice his SWAT team lieutenant had used whenever he was sending them into something that had a large chance of going bad. And, another kindness, Cornuke decided there was no point in mentioning that even if down in the valley the soldiers were sleeping, that was no guarantee that night patrols were not combing the mountain. If there were soldiers out there, he figured, his friend would find out soon enough.

After only a moment’s consideration, Williams agreed that the plan made sense, or at least as much sense as anything was making these days. A month ago his biggest worry was the dent his wife had put in the Rolls while backing into a tight space at Nordstrom’s. Now he was about to crawl away from a musky cave to head down a treacherously steep mountain in the dark of night; and, one further complication, the mountain happened to be standing in the middle of a Saudi Arabian military base. “No problem,” he assured Cornuke.

When they left, Williams led the way. He knew if he did not take that first step, he might never take one. He headed toward the ledge that led away from the cave, and all at once he heard the wind. It blew over the desert with a fierce, insistent, high-pitched whine. The noise was loud, but insufficient, Williams feared, to deaden the wild thumping of his heart.

They walked slowly, and since the path was narrow they went one behind the other like Indians. Footing was difficult; the mountain was mostly rock. But they made good progress, and after a while Williams was able to see with the night-vision binoculars down to the section of barbed-wire fence they had crawled under almost six hours ago. He was about to tell Cornuke when suddenly he was pushed to the ground from behind, the wind nearly knocked out of him. It was a moment before he realized that it was Cornuke’s bulk on top of him, and his friend’s hand wrapped tight across his mouth. “Quiet!” Cornuke commanded in a whisper.

There was a small hesitation, the overwhelming desire to do nothing; but then, moving carefully, Williams raised his head just inches from the ground and he saw it too: two silhouettes moving behind a boulder a hundred yards or so off, red-checkered gutras wrapped around their heads and Kalashnikovs strapped over their shoulders.

The two men lay there hugging the ground in the darkness until the figures moved noiselessly on. But even after the patrol had long disappeared down some unseen path, Cornuke and Williams couldn’t find the will to go on. It wasn’t until the sky was lightening, and they began to hear the first stirrings from the guardhouse, that they realized it was now or never. Besides, Williams reminded himself, there was still something else he needed to prove. It was the part of the mystery that, back in what now seemed like another lifetime, had first moved him to come to the mountain.

They both got to their feet. When they didn’t hear a round of automatic fire come blasting at them, they silently gave thanks and continued the short distance down the mountain to the valley.

A FLAT , rocky plain without even a tree for cover stood between the base of the mountain and the barbed-wire fence. But there was no other way out, and so, on a count of three, they made a dash for it. There was no stealth, no pretense of quiet. All that mattered was getting to the fence and finding the spot by the dried-up creek bed where they had earlier dug a crawl space in the spongy sand. Williams was a marathoner, but after just a hundred yards he was huffing mightily since he had never before run for his life. Cornuke had not gone full out since he had blown his knee on a fullback sweep more than a decade earlier. But even if he had been years younger with a packed stadium cheering him on, he could not have imagined himself ever running faster than he did that morning across the desert sand. They hit the fence in a dead heat.

With both hands, Cornuke held up the fence and Williams crawled under on his belly. When he was on the other side, it was Cornuke’s turn. He got down on all fours, ready to go, but all at once there was a noise as loud as the crack of a rifle. It was an unsteady instant that seemed like an eternity before they realized the door to the guardhouse had swung open. A soldier had come out to pee. Cornuke waited until the sound of urine hissing into the sand had subsided, and then he, too, crawled easily under the fence to safety.

The sun was now high, and the desert was beginning to bake. It was a mile or so walk from the fence to the wadi where they had hidden their truck, and, hot and completely exhausted, they took their time. Still, they felt good. It looked as if they had made it. And when they saw the truck sitting just as they had left it, their supplies still loaded in the rear, for the first time they congratulated one another. They had pulled it off! Done the impossible!

It was only as they were walking the final ten yards toward their campsite that the two Bedouins stepped out from behind a large bush. Where they had been waiting all along.

One of the Bedouins, the taller man, leveled a 12-gauge shotgun at them. Williams saw the weapon and, instead of coming to a stop, moved in closer. He had grown up in Montana and knew a bit about guns. A 12-gauge was only a single-shot, so he quickly calculated that maybe only one of them would have to die. He took another step toward the gunman. That was the other thing about shotguns: They need distance to be effective; up close the shooter has no room to maneuver.

The Bedouin waved the gun threateningly, motioning for Williams to stand still. But he took another small step forward. He wanted to get close enough at least to make a grab for the weapon. After all Williams had gone through, he was prepared to risk his life.

He caught Cornuke’s eye. His friend understood. Now it was Cornuke’s turn to take a small step toward the gunman. Simultaneously the two men inched slowly forward. The gunman was shouting, but they pretended not to understand. All that mattered was that at least one of them survive. One of them had to make it out of the desert to tell the world what they had seen on the mountain known as Jabal al Lawz.


Part One
PROJECT FALCON 
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Riyadh, Saudi Arabia: 1979

THE meeting was at midnight, and the king was the last to arrive. The members of the Saudi Higher Officers’ Committee immediately jumped to attention when King Fahd, accompanied by his brother, Prince Sultan, who was the kingdom’s minister of defense, entered. The windowless room was hidden two floors below the Air Force headquarters on Old Airport Road in Riyadh, and it was known as the “Black Hole.” The name was grim but appropriate: The room was totally secure, a cave of secrets.

The king and Prince Sultan took seats at the head of the long table, but the officers continued to stand at attention. After a moment, the king began. On most occasions he spoke softly, people strained to listen, and his words often came slowly, a hesitancy that seemed more awkward than thoughtful. Tonight, however, his tone was a monarch’s—firm and commanding. He did not speak for long, but what he said was spoken with such force that the words nearly echoed off the soundproofed walls.

The time has come, the king began according to a classified report that made its way years later to the CIA, for Saudi Arabia to become a power in the Middle East. There was a brief mention of Israel, how the defeat in the 1973 war had been “humiliating,” but the king spoke mostly about his “sacred responsibility” to protect Islam’s holy shrines at Mecca and Medina. “I am the Custodian of the Two Holy Mosques,” he declared repeatedly. Saudi Arabia must be able to stand alone, proud and unafraid. His voice steady and emphatic, his words built to a declaration that was spoken with such intensity that it might as well have been a vow: We will pay any price. We will do whatever is necessary. But the kingdom must be able to defend itself. We must have a superweapon.

The king left immediately, but Prince Sultan and the members of the Higher Officers’ Committee stayed past dawn. By the time the meeting ended on that spring morning in 1979, the preliminary plans had been made for what would become known as Project Falcon.

IT had been King Fahd’s father, the visionary and decadent King Abd al-Aziz, who had introduced the brutal effectiveness of modern weaponry to the kingdom. Threatened by a revolt of his own private army of Bedouin warriors in 1929, the monarch sent emissaries off to England. When the expensive fruits of these hurried negotiations were delivered, he launched his counterattack at the Battle of Sabillah. Waves and waves of shrieking Bedouins, their cutlasses held high, came thundering across the sand on galloping horses and camels. It was a fearless, bloodcurdling charge—straight into a wadi where a long column of newly purchased armored cars mounted with British-made machine guns waited.

The automatic weapons opened fire as if at target practice. The desert warriors pushed on, too brave (or, truth be told, confused) to retreat. The guns spurted round after round, their overheated metal barrels glowing dangerously as if ready to combust. And still more rebels rushed toward the guns. As legend has it, Bedouins were slaughtered by the hundreds that day. With that bloody victory, the king, who by this juncture in his dissolute life was forced to use a long, hook-handled cane to support his bulk, became known forever to his intimidated subjects as “the Falcon of the Peninsula.”

More than five decades later, as Prince Sultan and the Higher Officers’ Committee began formulating their bold strategy to bring a superweapon to the kingdom, it was decided to pay wishful homage to this warrior heritage. Air Force General Khaled bin Sultan, who was the prince’s son (and grandson of the old monarch) rather proudly came up with the idea. The general, a chunky, barrel-chested career soldier who commanded with the mirthless, officious demeanor of someone determined to prove himself worthy of the privileges birth had bestowed, recommended to his father that, as a matter of security, their activities needed a code name: Project Falcon—al-Saqr in Arabic—after the old “Falcon of the Peninsula,” he suggested. The prince was impressed and delighted; the years he had served in the palace had left him with a genuine fondness for intrigue. He quickly summoned the Higher Officers’ Committee. The battle of Sabillah, he told the officers, would seem like child’s play when compared to the destruction Project Falcon would soon be able to inflict on Saudi Arabia’s enemies.

YET while King Abd al-Aziz had to worry only about a few rebellious nomadic tribes, the modern kingdom was surrounded. Its 865,000 miles of mostly empty, barren land fronted on the Red Sea, the Persian Gulf, and a world of potential aggressors. To the north was Saddam Hussein’s Iraq with its territorial ambitions and well-financed armed forces. To the east was a similarly hostile—and similarly unpredictable—Iran. On the southern flank was a newly unified Yemen. While to the west, just a stone’s throw (or warship’s barrage) across the Red Sea, was Jordanian and Iranian ally Sudan. Of course, there was also the threat posed by an increasingly unrestrained Israel; when it appeared possible that the Jewish forces would be overrun in the opening push of the Yom Kippur war, Moshe Dayan, the Israeli defense minister, had sent a warning to the Arab capitals that nuclear weapons would be launched if their armies did not withdraw. And not least, there was still one more simmering anxiety: the enemy within. The Muslim fundamentalists were becoming more organized and belligerent throughout the kingdom.

But as the 1980s began, the Higher Officers’ Committee also had at its disposal a means, if not to solve, at least to assuage all these somber concerns—money, barrels and barrels of petro-billions. As luck—or Allah—would have it, the sandy, largely desolate kingdom was sitting on top of the largest oil reserve in the world. With the price of oil quadrupling over the last decade, a seemingly endless supply of money—as much as $30 billion annually by some estimates—began pouring into the kingdom. By the end of 1982, the country’s central bank had an unprecedented $145 billion in foreign assets. “A shower of gold” was how an overwhelmed American ambassador accurately appraised the situation. And now, after a generation or so of energetically investigating the proposition of whether money could, indeed, buy a garish gold-plated happiness, the royal house of Saud decided it might be a more prudent investment to discover if money could buy security.

AND so on the king’s orders, and with his coffers flung open wide, the Higher Officers’ Committee began to move Project Falcon forward. The first tentative steps were taken in Washington in full view of the United States Congress.

On October 1, 1981, the Pentagon’s Defense Security Assistance Agency passed on for approval to the Senate and House the tersely worded Transmittal Number 81-96. As required by the Arms Export Control Act, this brief document stated that the Air Force had found no strategic reason to refuse Saudi Arabia’s request to purchase five Airborne Warning and Control System (AWACS) aircraft for $8.5 billion.

Congress, however, was more wary. There was a month of passionate, often shrill (“Hell no to the PLO!” was a frequent refrain) debate in both chambers. Yet at its conclusion, a majority of both the House and the Senate was persuaded that the radar-equipped planes were a defensive early warning system and not a threat to Israel or the fragile Middle East peace. Or, more pragmatically, that for $8.5 billion it was worth the risk. The purchase was approved.

But in all the fiery debate, there was never a thorough public analysis of what Transmittal No. 81-96 was allowing the Saudis to buy. If there had been, the senators and congressmen might have focused on paragraph iii of the single-page addendum. In addition to the five aircraft, the Saudis were also getting approval for the future “design, construction, and supply of required AWAC related ground base Command, Control, and Communications (C3) facilities and equipment, including an appropriate number of ground radar.”

A C3 network is a coordinated nationwide air defense system that, like a high-tech trip wire, sets off alarms when an enemy plane intrudes into a country’s airspace. But when certain strategic capabilities are added, a C3 network can become an offensive weapon—a means to launch a coordinated first strike. A ballistic missile is one “strategic capability” that immediately transforms the system.

IT took the Higher Officers’ Committee four years to find its ballistic missiles. Actually, locating the weapons was easy; the roll call of nations possessing long-range surface-to-surface missiles is, as a matter of pride and military strategy, widely disseminated. The tricky part, however, was to find a government that was both willing to sell such advanced weaponry to Saudi Arabia and able to complete the complex transaction in total secrecy. The Higher Officers’ Committee’s constant fear was that Project Falcon would come to an abrupt end if either the United States or Israel learned of the purchase before the missiles were operational.

It was Prince Bandar bin Sultan, the Saudi ambassador to Washington famous for extravagant parties in both Aspen and the capital, where the champagne and caviar flowed as extravagantly as oil from the desert, who, in 1984, first carefully approached the Chinese. His secret mission to Beijing resulted in Lieutenant General Cao Gangchuan, deputy chief of the General Staff of the People’s Liberation Army, coming to Saudi Arabia to discuss the possibility of a sale in more detail. The general flew directly to a remote desert air base and, one further security measure, emerged from his room only in the thick dark of the desert night for talks with members of the Higher Officers’ Committee.

The negotiations continued for over a year with Prince Khaled bin Sultan, the air defense minister, now in charge. He hosted nearly a dozen tense, late-night sessions at a series of military bases hidden away in isolated patches of desert. He flew his own plane to China and at a secure facility in the northwest provinces was allowed to see a row of erect missiles on their launch pads, liquid fuel steaming from their engines, ready to be launched. And in a hotel room in Hong Kong, under an umbrella lined with metal foil to prevent electronic surveillance, the prince held whispered conversations with Chinese envoys. His mission, as ordered by the Higher Officers’ Committee and his father, Prince Sultan, was not simply limited to negotiating a purchase price for the sale of missiles. He had to select a team of Saudi officers and men who would be trained both in China and in the kingdom as launch crews; arrange for the shipment of the weapons; and build secure operational and storage facilities for the missiles in a number of strategically chosen sites throughout Saudi Arabia. And, if Project Falcon ever were to succeed, it all had to be accomplished in complete secrecy.

Yet the prince did it. It cost a sum estimated to be in excess of $20 billion, and late in 1985, the first ships from China carrying 28 ballistic missiles began to arrive at the deliberately obscure Red Sea port of Al Qadhima. Known by the deceptively poetic name Dong Feng, or “East Wind,” the missiles were single-stage rockets fueled by liquid propellant. They had a maximum surface-to-surface range of about 2,500 miles. And they were able to carry a nuclear warhead.

It was that capability more than anything else that made the Higher Officers’ Committee willing to pay any price to buy them.

THE Islamic bomb. A nuclear device that would transform the entire balance of power in the Middle East. A superweapon that would protect the House of Saud against its enemies. All along, from that first midnight meeting in the Black Hole, this had been the main operational thrust of Project Falcon. The C3 system, the ballistic missiles—these, however vital to the plan’s ultimate success, were mere sideshows to the long-term secret push by the Higher Officers’ Committee to acquire a nuclear weapon. An offensive missile delivery system, the officers understood, was of negligible strategic value without something to deliver.

Under the stern and urgent leadership of Prince Sultan, the Higher Officers’ Committee worked simultaneously on several fronts to achieve nuclear capability. Nearly 350 miles southwest of Riyadh, on the edge of what was known as Empty Quarter, in the bleak oasis of Al Sulayyil, a nuclear weapons development program was started. At vast expense, a sprawling concrete-and-glass headquarters for this secret project was quickly built. A “nuclear library” containing unclassified papers (and, since money was no object, a few restricted ones) that detailed nuclear weapon technology in countries throughout the world was established in one wing. Foreign scientists, many of them Muslims from Western universities, were quietly recruited with promises of both fabulous salaries and, a rarer gift, citizenship. Yet even as these scientists settled in at their new laboratory in the middle of the desert and began their first, preliminary labors to build the Saudi bomb, the Higher Officers’ Committee was also busy trying to buy one.

A deal was quickly struck with their fellow Muslims in Pakistan. The Pakistani nuclear program, begun in 1969, had never tested an actual weapon, but its scientists had succeeded in manufacturing the components for several bombs. The Saudis agreed to fund further Pakistani nuclear research lavishly, and in return Pakistan signed a secret treaty. If the kingdom were attacked with nuclear weapons, Pakistan would unleash its primitive nuclear arsenal against the aggressor.

And in a tent erected on the outskirts of the dusty border town of Judeida, the desert for miles in each direction cordoned off by crack Saudi troops, members of the Higher Officers’ Committee attended a clandestine two-day seminar with Iraqi nuclear officials. The Saudis listened as the Iraqis, full of militant optimism, insisted that their country’s program to turn low-grade uranium into bomb-grade material had been only marginally set back by the Israeli destruction of its nuclear reactor at Osirak in 1981. It would not be long, one year, perhaps two, before their scientists would be able to manufacture a two-megaton bomb—if, the Iraqi officials pointedly suggested, they could only find sufficient funds to help bankroll this technology.

After consulting with the king, Prince Sultan struggled to ignore his misgivings and entered into one more covert treaty. He fully realized the mercurial, if not Faustian, dimensions of any deal with Saddam Hussein. Nevertheless, the king had reiterated his command: A superweapon must be had at any price. Saudi Arabia secretly agreed to invest billions in the Iraqi program, and in return the kingdom was promised a share of the weapons that would be produced.

Like extravagant gamblers, then, the Higher Officers’ Committee had spread its high-stake nuclear bets lavishly around the table. One, the officers confidently believed, would be bound to come up a winner. It was only a matter of time.

UNLESS they ran out of time. Unless Project Falcon was discovered. Unless the Israelis or the Americans somehow stumbled upon the foreign construction teams working in the far reaches of the desert on the missile bases; or discovered the hidden training camps for the newly recruited launch crews; or noticed that the well-camouflaged command and control stations were now being configured to be part of a first-strike network.

So after many anxious discussions, the Higher Officers’ Committee decided to add another element to the increasingly complex plot of Project Falcon. And once again, a prominent member of the royal family, on direct orders from King Fahd, threw himself personally into the intrigue.

With the approach each year of the King’s Camel Race, the flat, gray stretch of desert beyond the air-conditioned terminals of the King Khalid International Airport was transformed into a vast Bedouin camp. From all over the kingdom, tribesmen draped in their soiled, gownlike thobes, red-and-white-checkered gutras wrapped about their heads and leather ammunition belts corseted across their chests, arrived with their veiled women and gaggles of children. Most of the tribesmen had traveled for days to this site outside Riyadh to participate in the annual eighteen-kilometer race. They had whipped their camels across the sweltering desert, or had crammed them into the back of their pickup trucks, the animal’s long, spindly legs awkwardly folded like the limbs of a child’s marionette for the journey. While they waited for the day of the race, the camels were tethered, spitting and baying, in one arid, sun-baked cauldron of sand.

Across from the corral, tents had been pitched as far as the eye could see. Some were boxy squares of striped sun-bleached canvas, others were dark and narrow as coffins and woven from goats’ hair. Cooking fires blazed in front of each tent. Brass coffeepots filled with a pale brew the color of wet grass and spiced with cardamom had been put out to warm. Each afternoon dozens of lambs, their legs bound front and back, their heads pointing toward Mecca, were laid on their sides as daggers were plunged into their necks and blood spurted over the sand. By nightfall the lambs were roasting in makeshift oil drum ovens buried in the sand, the warm, rich aroma sweet in the first cool air of the evening. It was at that moment, as the evening meal was being prepared on the night before the otherwise uneventful 1984 race, that Crown Prince Abdullah, the king’s half brother, entered the encampment and went from tent to tent, calling on the tribal sheiks to attend a meeting later that night.

Prince Abdullah, whose mother was a Bedouin, was head of the Saudi National Guard. There were 10,000 full-time soldiers in the Guard, nearly all descended from the desert tribesmen who had been defeated at the battle of Sabillah. In addition to this standing force, however, there were also units in each of the Bedouin villages throughout the kingdom that could be mobilized with the consent of the tribal sheiks for special assignments. These Liwa and Firqa troops, as the reserve battalions were called, were also willing to fight to the death in defense of Allah; they, too, were the direct heirs of that same fierce warrior blood. Yet unlike the regulars, they didn’t trot out to duty in the Guard’s starched dark green fatigues. Dressed in their thobes, bandoliers crisscrossed over their chests, a bolt-action carbine or even the occasional AK-47 slung over their shoulders, they were, in appearance at least, no different than tribal shepherds.

Which, the Higher Officers’ Committee had realized, was the perfect cover. And on that night before the Camel Race, as tribal leaders from throughout the kingdom gathered in Riyadh, Prince Abdullah tried to buy their services.

The meeting was held in a tent, and only after small cups of the pale coffee were served and sipped did Prince Abdullah begin. The tribal leaders listened to his request, and then, according to one account of the session, slowly, after much hesitation, came around to agreeing that there was a slight chance an arrangement could be made—for an outrageous price. It was their signal that the negotiations were to begin. But the crown prince, to the bewilderment of the sheiks who could not help but feel that they somehow had been outsmarted, simply agreed. In return for a hefty sum of gold paid directly to each tribe, men from the Liwa and Firqa units were to be mobilized as soon as they returned from the Camel Race.

Their mission: to guard specific locations deep in the desert. Their instructions: to keep all trespassers out of their assigned areas. And to arrest all foreigners on sight.

AND so, as the crates filled with missiles were unloaded from the freighters, as the convoys of bulldozers dug up acres of sand, and as the newly recruited nuclear scientists worked in a sprawling, air-conditioned glass-walled laboratory more than three hundred miles from the nearest city, Project Falcon moved forward in complete secrecy. The desert was so immense, a lost world of hidden places. It had protected so many mysteries for so many centuries. No one, the Higher Officers’ Committee was convinced, would ever know what they were planning.
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National Photographic Interpretation Center, Washington, D.C.: 1984

PATRICK Teague had great eyes. He was famous for them, at least among the other photo analysts at the National Photographic Interpretation Center. His desk was on one of the restricted, windowless floors in the NPIC’s bright yellow cement building in the rear of the Navy Yard in Washington, D.C. It was in a room about the size of a football field and, like a newsroom, subdivided into an intricate maze of shoulder-high cubicles and constantly humming computer workstations. But Teague’s space had a homey touch. A sign, the product of a dot matrix printer, was taped to the side of his computer screen. It read, one part challenge to an equal measure of irony, “God is in the details.” And that was how Teague spent his days, a spy searching satellite photographs with almost religious devotion for hidden details. In his long career, he had helped determine that the Soviets were building submarines with titanium hulls, detected atmospheric plumes from secret North Korean test launches, and, in an incident that earned him a still classified CIA citation, located a previously unknown poppy plantation that had been carved out of remote jungle in Belize.

Late in the winter of 1984, a rather indistinct photograph of a Chinese missile base was routed to his desk for further analysis. It was a routine procedure; a final visual check of a blurry image before cataloguing the picture as CONSTANT—the term used when there is “no significant change from previous images”—in NPIC’s computer. But what Teague soon saw in that reconnaissance photo had office lights throughout Washington burning late into the night.

TWO days before the photograph had made its way to Teague, an Air Force Titan IIID rocket had been launched from the Eastern Test Range at Cape Canaveral, Florida. Its payload was a Lockheed Keyhole-9 satellite. Big Bird, as the launch crews called the satellite, was an orbiting spy station. It weighed 12 tons and was 55 feet long. Infrared scanners on board were capable of detecting underground missile silos, the silos’ temperature being warmer than the surrounding earth. Its multispectral scanners were able to reveal camouflaged equipment. But the core of the satellite was a super-high-resolution camera that could distinguish objects 8 inches across from a height of 90 miles. Then again, Teague was fond of boasting, if the right pair of eyes were doing the looking, Big Bird might do even better.

For this mission, the satellite was launched into a north-south polar orbit. Its inclination was approximately 96.4 degrees, a route that took it directly over the People’s Republic of China. No doubt it was programmed to maintain a longer “dwell time” above such strategic Chinese installations as the Shuan Cheng Missile Testing Center, where the country’s incipient space program was being developed, as well as above the plutonium production facility at Yumen and the nuclear test sites at Lop Nur and Pao-tou.

At the completion of its ground track circuit, Big Bird jettisoned its canisters of film. Floating toward earth, the re-entry vehicles were recovered in midair by Lockheed C-130s stationed at Hickam Air Force Base in Hawaii. From Hickam, the film was transported by special Air Force jet across the country to Langley Air Force Base in Virginia. There, the package was transferred to the custody of an armed CIA courier. Even with Washington’s frustrating traffic, it should not have taken the courier much more than forty-five minutes to deliver the film to the former heavy gun factory building in the rear of the Navy Yard.

The raw satellite photos had gone through a good deal of sophisticated image enhancement before they were sent on to Teague’s cubicle. Computers had already dissembled the developed pictures into millions of electronic Morse code pulses. Using MAGISTIC, a software information extraction program developed by the government, each spot was manipulated. Intensity and color were programmed through hundreds of combinations. And according to all accounts, the computers had succeeded in sharpening the image to reveal a scene that, at first glance, was worrisome to the team of photo analysts.

A Chinese DF-3A missile, a weapon capable of landing in downtown Tokyo, could be seen standing erect on its launch pad at Shuang Cheng. Vapor fumes enveloped the missile’s tail, evidence that its liquid-fuel rocket motor was engaged. And an analysis of the multispectral imagery showed the missile was “hot”: It was armed with a nuclear warhead.

But this was not a launch. A closer look showed that the steel restraints gripping the rocket’s body were still solidly in place. The mood in the room quickly dropped a notch as the analysts decided Big Bird had peeked in on a routine readiness test. The Chinese were making sure that if the moment ever arrived, all systems would be up and running. Case closed.

But not for Teague. His long career had been measured out in stubborn instances when, driven as much by instinct as certainty, he refused to move on. After only a quick study of the satellite photograph of this “hot” Chinese medium-range surface-to-surface missile, he preemptively decided it deserved more analysis. There were, he felt, more pieces to this puzzle. As his colleagues turned to other mysteries, he lingered. For a long while he just seemed to be staring at the photo with an intense, nearly trancelike gaze. (Or, as one impressed coworker described it, “When he’s on a hunt, Teague gets this lost-to-the-world look, like my grandkids staring at Barney.”) Later, Teague called up older, collateral photographs of the site for reference, and once again there was a long period of rock-hard concentration.

Then suddenly it was obvious to the handful of analysts who were discreetly following his investigation that Teague was onto something. There was no triumphant shout, no “Eureka!” echoing over the cubicles. But all at once there was activity. Teague was feverishly playing the computers, manipulating a grainy corner of the photograph pixel by pixel until, like the scattering of hazy, wafting smoke, a distant and still somewhat vague image was revealed: a row of stadium seats, a grandstand of sorts. And, no doubt about it, there were nearly a dozen spectators sitting in the seats.

Teague, however, did not stop there. A bit of a showman, it was not enough for him to announce to Langley that this was not a routine readiness test but rather an exhibition. He was determined to give the owls in the CIA’s Directorate of Operations, the tweedy spies who puffed on their pipes and talked portentiously about the Big Picture, something truly valuable to mull over. He was going to tell them who was filling the seats, which Chinese generals, scientists, and party officials were of sufficient stature to be invited to such an auspicious and covert demonstration. His ambitious plan was to isolate each face and then cross-reference it with the agency’s vast computer archive of Chinese officialdom. He was prepared to hunker down in his cubicle for days, weeks, whatever it took to get the job done.

But no sooner had Teague succeeded in magnifying the first randomly chosen face than he saw something totally unexpected. A beard! A carefully barbered and apparently black beard! He immediately abandoned his previous plan and, with mounting concern, began blowing up each of the remaining faces. When he was done, he had discovered two more beards.

The troubling thing was that Chinese officials don’t wear beards. But Arabs do.

Before the day was over, the news of Teague’s discovery had been announced to the CIA’s director of operations. And soon the same worrisome question was being asked with increasing urgency throughout Langley: What were three Arabs doing at a top secret Chinese nuclear missile base?

IT took another six months for the agency’s intelligence specialists to get the final proof that confirmed their worst fears. And while it was the sighting of a beard that sparked their inquiries, it was, just as unexpectedly, some casual gossip about a missing ear that provided the conclusive evidence.

The source was a doctor’s wife living in Saudi Arabia. Her husband, an American working at the King Faisal Specialist Hospital in Riyadh, had missed dinner with the kids one night because, he explained by way of apology, he had participated in a most amazing operation. A construction worker, unconscious and bleeding profusely, had been rushed to the hospital in Prince Khaled bin Sultan’s private jet from somewhere deep in the desert. A steel beam had fallen and sliced off the unfortunate man’s ear.

You must save him. He must be kept alive, begged the anxious prince. I would be eternally grateful.

The surgeons who examined the man knew the prince was not only the general who commanded Saudi Arabia’s Air Defense Forces, but also King Fahd’s favorite nephew. Was there a moment’s reverie about the ways an oil-rich Saudi prince might prove his gratitude? If so, it was never shared. From the start, their manner was concerned and their diagnosis was succinct. We can save the man, they announced. No problem. We can even go one better. Find his ear and we’ll sew it back on, good as new.

On Prince Sultan’s orders, a convoy of cars, trucks, and military jeeps filled with soldiers was immediately dispatched to the remote desert site. It was a location nearly 350 miles southwest of the capital, on the outskirts of the oasis of Al Sulayyil. The vehicles were arranged into a wide circle around the approximate location of the accident, and with the glow from their headlights illuminating the desert, the soldiers began to sift through the grains of windblown sand. It took all night, but they found the ear. A film of dried blood had protected it, and by the next afternoon the ear was reattached and the patient was doing fine.

It was such a happy ending, such a tribute to American know-how, as well as the Saudi ruling family’s thoughtful benevolence, that the doctor’s wife couldn’t help herself. She ignored her husband’s admonition to keep the entire incident hush-hush. Conspiratorially, she shared the story over lunch the next day with her best friend, the mousy wife of a junior visa officer at the American embassy. The passport desk, however, was just a bit of diplomatic cover for this embassy underling. He worked for the CIA, not the State Department. And there was more to the secret: His wife was also on the payroll.

The report on the luncheon was filed jointly by the husband-and-wife team. It contained all the information the doctor’s wife had whispered to her friend, including her bewildered assessment of Prince Sultan’s charity: “He’s gotta be one of the richest men in the world. And who does he worry about? Some grease monkey.” But there was one small detail in her narrative, a piece of news she offered up without any apparent appreciation of its significance, that convinced the team of spies this was a story their superiors wanted to hear immediately—the construction worker was Chinese.

When the Flash cable arrived at Langley, the intelligence owls started quickly stringing the scraps of information together. Chinese workers were constructing a top secret site in the Saudi desert. The base was under the direct supervision of Prince Sultan, the general in charge of the kingdom’s air defense forces. And months earlier, a bearded aide of the prince had been tentatively identified in the satellite photograph of the crowd at the Shuan Cheng Missile Testing Center.

There were no longer any doubts. The director of the Central Intelligence Agency was informed, and at a breakfast meeting the next morning he shared the news with the president and members of his cabinet. The balance of power in the Middle East had quietly, yet dramatically changed. The Saudis, with the help of the Chinese, were secretly building bases in the kingdom capable of launching nuclear missiles.

IT had been President Reagan, according to those familiar with that morning’s anxious meeting, who, after taking a few moments to consider the news, first raised an immediate concern. “There’s going to be hell to pay when the Israelis find out,” he worried.

Three years earlier, in June 1981, fourteen Israeli fighter-bombers had attacked and destroyed the Iraqi nuclear reactor at Osirak. The U.S. government’s official criticism of the raid had been only halfhearted. In fact, many military and intelligence officials were relieved that Iraq’s nuclear program had been so forcefully set back. But this latest development in the Middle East, the men in the room understood, presented a much more complicated problem. Israel, the only democracy in the Middle East, was an ally. But so was Saudi Arabia. And no less a factor, the kingdom controlled approximately a quarter of the world’s oil reserves. Riyal politik—a tribute to the riyal, the Saudi coin of the realm—had become a significant consideration in Washington’s evolving Middle East realpolitik. Any Israeli military action in Saudi Arabia would force the Reagan administration to make a choice. And any choice would, by definition, be the wrong one.

That was when a shrewd solution was offhandedly proposed. “Who says,” a cabinet officer wondered mischievously, “the Israelis have to find out? Suppose we don’t tell them.”
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Anti-Terrorist Alert Center, Suitland, Maryland: 1985

A “courier card” is, arguably, the most coveted library card in the nation. It is certainly the most difficult to obtain. With the card, the bearer is “cleared for the world.” He has access to warehouses of secrets. The archives of the CIA, the FBI, the State Department, the Defense Intelligence Agency, the Naval Intelligence Service, and even the National Security Agency will open its doors and computer links. And it is a virtually—it would be naive not to assume there is always something beyond one’s grasp—unrestricted turf. The bearer’s official clearance is a tantalizing notch above TOP SECRET. He can look into the dark vaults where the SPECIAL COMPARTMENTED INFORMATION is stored.

There is, however, one internal limitation on the information even a courier card can retrieve. This access is granted on a “need-to-know” basis. The holder, according to the classified agreement he signs when the card is issued, must on his honor confine his research and his curiosity to data that will facilitate the performance of his specific duties. A card-carrying Sinologist, for example, is prohibited from poking around to see who really shot President Kennedy. Knowledge is, after all, power; and, like any potent weapon, its use must be controlled.

But throughout the summer and fall of 1985, a spy held a courier card. Unknown—and perhaps even unimagined—by the intelligence mandarins who had wishfully relied on the holder’s integrity to restrict his explorations, the traitor was very carefully, very deliberately using his card to plunder a specific corner of the nation’s repository of secrets. His target was the Middle East.

THE spy was a balding, moonfaced 30-year-old analyst working at the U.S. Navy’s newly created Anti-Terrorist Alert Center (ATAC) in suburban Maryland. He was assigned to the Caribbean Desk, and for each of his twelve-hour shifts his job, primarily, was to sit in his cubicle and read. Satellite photographs, phone intercepts, arms shipments, embassy communiqués—all, as long as they pertained to the Caribbean, were part of his required reading list, and all were accessed with his courier card. Classified information on the Middle East was not relevant to his job, but it was just as easy to get.

On the last Friday of every month, the spy would drive his Toyota through the main gate of the Naval Intelligence complex. He made a point of placing his briefcase on the gray bucket seat next to him. It was good tradecraft; a shout, he had been instructed, often attracts less attention than a whisper. If any of the armed guards looked—and, from time to time, no doubt they did—they would not have missed it. The briefcase, however, was never inspected.

From the gate, it was a tense twenty-minute drive to a car wash on upper Connecticut Avenue in Washington. Exhilarated by the danger yet always disciplined, he would wait until his car was being guided through the dark tunnel; and then, with volleys of water pounding and soap thickly curtaining the windows, he would act. From underneath his seat he would retrieve another briefcase—a present from his handler—and begin to transfer the contents of one case to the other. It was always a race. There were many handfuls of documents, but it did not take long—180 chaotic seconds—for the car to emerge, glistening and beaded, into the full light of the afternoon.

With the transfer successfully completed, the spy’s edginess would ease. The mission, he would proudly congratulate himself as he made his way to a condominium apartment on nearby Van Ness Street, was near to being accomplished. A treasure chest of invaluable information—photographs taken by cameras silently orbiting in the sky, transcripts of conversations snatched from thin air by arrays of clandestine antennae, and the insights of secret agents working deep in enemy territory—had been snatched.

The apartment was on the eighth floor, and it was packed with sophisticated photocopying equipment. There were so many high-tech machines—huge satellite reconnaissance photos cannot be copied at the corner Kinko’s—that an electronic blanketing system had been installed to ensure signals were not being radiated through the building. A neighbor wondering why his HBO was coming in fuzzy could have jeopardized the entire operation.

For nearly two years, everything went as the handlers had planned. The spy would give the briefcase to his postman, a doe-eyed, dark-haired woman who always greeted him with an enthusiastic smile. She would spend a busy weekend making copies of the documents. On Monday morning, as the spy dutifully returned the originals to the various intelligence libraries, the copies would be on their way to Tel Aviv.

And that was how, despite the elaborate precautions taken by the Higher Officers’ Committee and the careful silence of the Reagan administration, Israel managed to learn what was happening in the Saudi desert. After studying satellite photographs and intelligence reports stolen in the fall of 1985 by its agent Jonathan Pollard, Israel knew that bases were being secretly built throughout the kingdom for 28 Chinese DF-3A missiles capable of delivering nuclear warheads anywhere in their small country within minutes.

THE Israeli cabinet, after only cursory debate, authorized an attack. A formation of aircraft took off across the Red Sea, turned right, and, hugging the desert to avoid Saudi radar, headed toward the military city of Tabuk in the northwest corner of the kingdom.

The planes flew over the sprawling base precisely at dawn. They came in from the east with the rising sun behind them so that the Saudi gunners would have the light in their eyes and the Israelis’ target would be illuminated. Their IP—Initial Point, the start of the bomb run—was a control tower a mile north of the base’s main jet runway. The runway was their target. They caught the Saudis by complete surprise. One after another, the planes dropped their payload.

The sound of live pigs hitting the concrete from a height of one hundred feet was sickening. The noise of the C-130 engines drowned out their squeals, but there was a sharp, hard thud, like a car’s door being firmly shut, each time an animal slammed into the tarmac and its internal organs splattered. The oozing remains of twelve pigs lay scattered in an impressively neatly spaced row by the time the planes had completed their run and were heading back toward the Red Sea.

It had been an odd bombing mission. But the message sent was as succinct and effective as if the planes had dropped 1,000-pound laser-guided smart bombs. The Saudis were being told: Spend your barrels of petro-dollars on all the missiles you want. It does not matter. The Israeli Air Force owns the sky. Whenever we want, we can penetrate your airspace. We can destroy your missiles. We can destroy your country. So don’t get any aggressive ideas.

There was a goading streak of mischievousness packed into the message too. Pigs were haram; Islamic law, like the Torah, prohibited the eating of their flesh. The gift of a dozen splattered pigs was a gesture that was calculated to be rude, vulgar, and totally infuriating.

And no less an inspiration, the attack shrewdly acknowledged the realities of international politics. The Saudis were too embarrassed to make a fuss. More important, the Americans did not have to choose sides, which, the Israelis realized, was just as well. If a line were drawn in the sand, oil and all it could buy on one side, and Zionism and all its baggage on the other, it would be a real worry waiting for the Americans to take their giant step.

Yet even as the Israeli Air Force high command was congratulating itself on the successful return of the planes to their base outside Eilat, a meeting of the Israeli cabinet was being convened. The mood that morning in Jerusalem was more anxious than celebratory. Soldiers, after all, fight battles; politicians wage wars. The ministers understood that if the Saudis could buy missiles, then it was possible—even likely—that their petro-dollars could in time buy a nuclear bomb. Prime Minister Shimon Peres ordered that all intelligence operations aimed at Saudi Arabia be intensified. It was of the highest priority, he decided, for Israel to discover what the House of Saud was planning.

It was not long after receiving this order from the prime minister that Amnon Shahak, the commander of military intelligence, met with the officers of Unit 269 of the Israeli Defense Forces. The existence of Unit 269 was a state secret. It was an elite sayeret, or reconnaissance force, whose members were recruited from all branches of the military. The sayeret commandos were trained to work behind enemy lines in groups of three or four men and to set up observation posts for long periods of time. On Shahak’s orders, three Unit 269 teams were sent into the Saudi desert.
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Dogubayazit, Turkey: 1986

SO much, then, for Kipling’s notion that “the desert is the loneliest of all places.” Satellites with high-intensity infrared cameras were now zipping overhead, peering down on the Arabian nights. Chinese construction crews were busy excavating bunkers for ballistic missiles. Command and control centers with vast radar arrays were being raised. Bedouin militiamen roamed about on constant patrol. Israeli commandos were hunkering down in covert observation posts. And if all that weren’t enough, straight into the heart of this activity came Dave Fasold with his machine that could find gold.

It was a matter of chance, and a fair amount of greed, that brought Fasold to Saudi Arabia. He had just spent a melancholic month trekking through the oozing spring mud of the little Turkish town of Dogubayazit as part of an expedition that had set out to find the remains of Noah’s Ark. A deep-sea salvager by trade and adventurer by inclination, Fasold was, he quickly realized, the odd man out in the clubby group of born-again Christian amateur archaeologists he had hooked up with for the trip to Turkey. It wasn’t just that the wiry, compact former merchant seaman, with his tattoos and next-round’s-on-me grin, saw himself as, he was fond of saying, “a born-again pagan.” What really gnawed at him, a sore no doubt exacerbated by the steady gloom and mud of Turkey, was the incredible gullibility of the true believers he was traveling with. “They wanted, hell, they needed to believe the Bible was true,” he complained. “They were always whirling like dervishes and praying to God, thanking him for all the incredible discoveries they were making.” “Lies for God” was how Fasold dismissed the certainty with which some of his fellow travelers insisted they had found proof that the remains of the Ark were perched on Mount Ararat.

Still, the born-again crowd had little choice but to put up with Fasold’s grumblings. They had brought him along because of his uncanny ability to coax results out of an ingeniously modified Simpson Frequency Generator model 420-D. Fasold, now in his early fifties, had become a salvager after his years as a seaman, and over time he had learned to play the machine like a virtuoso. If there was buried metal near the spot where Fasold was pointing the rods of his remote sensing device, he would find it. Even better, by reading the precise frequencies the buried objects generated, he was able to determine conclusively if the hidden source was tin, aluminum, lead, or even silver or gold. It was no wonder the others were willing to ignore his peevish skepticism. Fasold, however, put up with them for another reason—he was always up for adventure. But after a month in Turkey, he had had enough. Or so he thought until Ron Wyatt, an anesthesia nurse from Nashville with a proudly biblical white beard who had helped arrange the expedition, came up to him in the lobby of the Kent Hotel in Ankara, coaxed him into a dark corner, and then, with a conspiratorial whisper, made a proposition.

Wyatt was just the sort Fasold was looking forward to escaping. He had a habit of saying he was on a mission from God to find the Ark, and—an even greater insult to Fasold’s well-honed sense of irony—truly believing it. But now sitting a cozy arm’s length across from each other in two threadbare chairs in a seedy hotel in Ankara, the sliver of midday sun that managed to penetrate the tightly drawn curtains the only apparent light in the room, Wyatt, as provocative as any temptress, played to Fasold’s passion: treasure. He knew about a fabulous treasure buried in the plain surrounding a mountain in Saudi Arabia. With your machine guiding us, it will be easy pickings, Wyatt promised.

“Ron! I don’t have time to go to Arabia,” Fasold can still remember growling. “I have to get home. You can’t get a tourist visa for Saudi in any case. They don’t grant tourist visas.”

“Want to bet, Pilgrim?” challenged Wyatt.

THE night flight from Jeddah north to Tabuk was just a short hop, but to an excited Fasold it was an exotic sampling of what in another era had so attracted T. E. Lawrence and St. John Philby to Araby. Taking up an entire row was a quartet of chunky salesmen, their dozen or so valises ballooning with copper pots and pans, each of the men stuffed into Western suits and vests, and each with a stained gutra wrapped around his head. By a window a jet-black African in a brilliant rainbow print dashiki was sitting next to a regal-looking East Indian woman in a pastel sari adorned with an intricate gold frieze. The other passengers were Arabs dressed in sheetlike white thobes, and their wives in long, black abaayas, their faces hidden by black veils that, both provocative and ominous, left only their eyes exposed. Children sat on their laps, and more children squatted in the aisles. As the engines started to race, over the speaker a flight attendant recited salah, a traveler’s prayer from the Koran, as tenderly as a mother singing a lullaby. And then, after a moment’s struggle, the overloaded plane seemed to defy gravity and was suddenly coasting over the minarets of Jeddah as it headed into the total darkness of the desert.

Sitting next to Fasold, sleeping thickly from the aftereffects of a liberal dose of Dewar’s and honey elixir administered as a head cold remedy before they left Ankara, was Samran el-Mutainy. It was Samran who over the last whirlwind twenty-four hours had become Fasold’s partner, benefactor, and host. Just as Wyatt had planned. Only a couple of days earlier he had shown up unexpectedly at the Ark dig and introduced himself with a big, self-deprecating grin as an old friend of Wyatt’s. With a mixture of respect and fascination, Fasold had watched Samran march into the Saudi consulate in Ankara, and a few hours later a Saudi official had personally delivered (!) their three visas to the hotel.

Next thing Fasold knew, Samran was explaining he had bought the airline tickets to Tabuk. “Do not think of repaying me” was how the Arab graciously put it, and Fasold restrained himself from blurting out that it was the farthest thing from his mind. “Of course you will be my guests in my country. You will stay in my house,” Samran continued. Of course, agreed Fasold amicably. And there was one last piece of quick business to get out of the way before they rushed to the airport. It seemed Samran and Wyatt had worked out a contract they wanted Fasold to sign. He read:

Mr. Fasold and Mr. Wyatt will provide special mineral detection equipment, and will examine sites to be designated by Mr. Samran el-Mutainy…. Should commercial minerals be located by these surveys … Mr. Samran el-Mutainy is to receive 75 percent of the … profits. Mr. David Fasold and Mr. Ronald Wyatt are to receive the remaining 25 percent….

Fasold couldn’t help feeling he was being set up, everything being so rushed while clearly Samran and Wyatt had been cooking up this little scheme for some time. Still, a free trip to Saudi was too good to turn down. Not to mention the prospect of a treasure hunt. Besides, if these guys were so hot to trot, then maybe…. He signed just below the line where they had already conveniently typed in his name. And before he knew it, the plane was landing in Tabuk.

• • •

A six-foot wall surrounded Samran’s house and grounds, and by his third day in the compound, Fasold was beginning to wonder if the wall was to keep strangers out or to keep the servants in. A small, industrious army tended the estate. As an exercise, something to share with his wife when he got back to Florida, Fasold filled part of an aimless morning trying to take inventory of the staff.

There was the grim and incredibly gaunt Egyptian cook who always seemed to be either roasting beans in a skillet or grinding them with fresh cardamom in a mortar so he could brew his continuous supply of noxiously bitter green coffee. Then there was the handful of young, lithe, and giggling women from Sri Lanka who went scurrying after the children from Samran’s three households, all living in apparently peaceful coexistence on the estate. The gardens seemed to require the constant care of a half-dozen or so intensely focused Filipinos. Same for the cars. Parked in a long line of parallel bays were three Mercedes sedans, a Cadillac, at least two Land Rovers, a Toyota Scout, and a custom-made black Mercedes four-wheel-drive jeep complete with car phone. And all the vehicles were kept showroom clean, which was quite a trick, Fasold realized, in the middle of the desert. He almost overlooked the houseboys, unobtrusive but forever clipping roses or sweeping and polishing. Still, there were enough of them, Fasold decided, to man a football team, with separate squads for offensive and defensive. And he didn’t want to forget the maids. Samran’s three wives prowled around the estate trailed by a flock of young girls who seemed to have no other purpose but to keep a deferential distance. The bottom line, Fasold finally calculated: maybe a hundred or so on staff.

But the meals left him most impressed. Dinner was his favorite. It was held in the majlis, the central area of the tent erected in the middle of the estate. Of course, one man’s tent, Fasold was learning, was another man’s palace. Samran’s was air-conditioned, seemed about the size of the Astrodome, and even had a wall of glass that offered a view onto the acre or so of gardens. Each night it was filled with Samran’s wives, their relatives, and assorted guests. But no matter how many plopped themselves onto the overstuffed pillows, Samran’s kitchens were prepared. A parade of somber kitchen girls who, despite their gravity, seemed not much older than grade-schoolers kept lugging five-foot brass platters weighed down with mountains of rice or esoteric parts of sheep or orchards of polished fruit to the long tables.

It was during dinner on Fasold’s third incredulous evening in Arabia, just as he was beginning to wonder if his host had forgotten why he had brought him and his machine to the desert, that Samran made his announcement. It was all done very casually, Samran first grabbing a handful of rice from a tray and rolling it into a smooth ball with his fingers before dropping it absently into the middle of Fasold’s brass dinner plate. As Fasold studied this little gift, Samran spoke with a sudden yet succinct authority. “We leave tomorrow morning at sunrise. We’ll take three vehicles. A caravan. Any luck, we should reach the mountain by midday.” Then, flashing a nasty smile at Wyatt, he added as if in an afterthought, “And this time, I assure you, as long as I’m around you won’t have to spend seventy-eight days in jail for trying to get there.”
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